2001

Ladell C. Prisbrey, Appellant, vs. Bloomington Water Company, Inc., Robert L. Morgan, State Engineer, and Leucadia Financial Corporation, a Utah Corporation, Appellee: Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

**STATEMENT OF ISSUES PRESENTED, STANDARD OF APPELLATE
REVIEW AND PRESERVATION OF THE ISSUES IN THE TRIAL COURT**

Issue No. 1: Did Prisbrey have standing to challenge the State Engineer's approval of Bloomington's Application for Permanent Change of Water where Prisbrey did not protest the Application within 30 days of published notice, but where the notice did not strictly comply with UTAH CODE ANN. §73-3-3 and §73-3-6, pursuant to *Longley v. Leucadia Financial Corp.*, 9 P.3d 762 (Utah 2000)?

Standard of Appellate Review: Inasmuch as the issues presented in this case are questions of law related to the construction of statutes and rules, the Appellate Court accords no particular deference to the trial court; it is reviewed for correctness. *Longley v. Leucadia Fin. Corp.*, 9 P.3d 762, 69 (Utah 2000).

Preservation of the Issue in the trial court: Memorandum in Opposition to Respondent's Motion for Summary Judgement and oral arguments and transcript of February 28, 2001. (R.125).

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Leucadia Financial Corporation leased from Bloomington Water Company 2.33 cubic feet per second of underground water right located in Washington County with a point of diversion in Bloomington, Utah. Even though Leucadia had leased the actual water rights, Leucadia requested that Bloomington file a change application with the State Engineer to divert the water some five miles to property owned by Leucadia in the Fort

Pearce basin area. Prisbrey owns two tracts of real property located adjacent to the Leucadia property at the new point of diversion.

At Bloomington's request, the State Engineer published in the Daily Spectrum the proposed change on April 26, 1999, and May 10, 1999. On September 10, 1999, Prisbrey objected to the proposed change of diversion to the Utah State Water Board. Prisbrey argued that there was insufficient water in the area where Leucadia intended to divert the water as the water in that area was already being "mined." Prisbrey also protested the fact that Bloomington Water Company had filed the change application when Leucadia was the real right holder of the water right.

On October 15, 1999, the State Engineer issued a memorandum decision approving the change application rejecting Prisbrey's contention that water would be mined in the new diversion area.

Prisbrey filed a Petition for Judicial Review of the Informal Adjudicative Decision on November 12, 1999, with the Fifth District Court in St. George, Utah. Thereafter, Leucadia was named as a party to the lawsuit. Bloomington, Leucadia, and the State Engineer subsequently filed a joint Motion for Summary Judgment alleging that Prisbrey had no standing to contest the determination of the State Engineer as he had not filed his protest within 30 days of the last publication in the Daily Spectrum. Prisbrey asserted that the notice was invalid as the State Engineer's office did not comply with the statutory notice provisions found in UTAH CODE ANN. §73-3-3 and §73-3-6 and as articulated by this Court in *Longley v. Leucadia Financial Corp.*, 9 P.3d 762 (Utah 2000).

The Fifth District Court granted Respondent's Motion for Summary Judgment and this appeal followed.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

1. Leucadia Financial Corporation leased water right 81-441, 2.33 cubic feet per second, from Bloomington Water Company. At Leucadia's request, Bloomington filed an application to permanently change the point of diversion with the State Engineer's office on April 16, 1999. (R. 95, Statement of Fact 1; R. 5-7).

2. On April 26, 1999, and May 6, 1999, the State Engineer caused to be published in the Daily Spectrum the information regarding the change application. The notice published in the Daily Spectrum read as follows:

81-441 (a23227): Bloomington Water Company Incorporated propose(s) to change the POD & POU of water as evidenced by Application A32568, as amended by a7973, Certificate 9629.

HERETOFORE: QUANTITY: 2.33 cfs. SOURCE: 14 in. well 67 ft. deep. POD: (1) N 2942 W 1951 from SE Cor, Sec 6, T43S, R15W. USE: Irrigation: total acreage 615.0000 acs, sole supply 138.6300acs. POU: SW $\frac{1}{4}$ NW $\frac{1}{4}$ Sec 7; S $\frac{1}{2}$ NE $\frac{1}{4}$, SE $\frac{1}{4}$ NW $\frac{1}{4}$, N $\frac{1}{2}$ SE $\frac{1}{4}$ Sec 8, T43S, R15W; S $\frac{1}{2}$ NE $\frac{1}{4}$, SE $\frac{1}{4}$ Sec 11; S $\frac{1}{2}$, S $\frac{1}{2}$ NE $\frac{1}{4}$ Sec 12; NE $\frac{1}{4}$, E $\frac{1}{2}$ NW $\frac{1}{4}$, NE $\frac{1}{4}$ SW $\frac{1}{4}$, NW $\frac{1}{4}$ SE $\frac{1}{4}$ Sec 13; N $\frac{1}{2}$ NE $\frac{1}{4}$, NE $\frac{1}{4}$ NW $\frac{1}{4}$ Sec 14, T43S, R16W.

HEREAFTER: QUANTITY: 2.33 cfs. SOURCE: Underground Water Wells (5) POD: (1) N 250 E 300 from SW corn. Sec 24, 18 in. well 200 ft. to 600 ft. deep; (2) N 300 E 0, 18 in. well 200 ft. to 600 ft. deep; (3) N 250 E 400 from S $\frac{1}{4}$ Corn, Sec 25, 18 in. well 200 ft. to 600 ft. deep; (4) N 625 E 200 from S $\frac{1}{4}$ Cor, 18 in. well 200 ft. to 600 ft. deep; and (5) N 500 W 350 from SE Cor, Sec 26, T43S, R15W., 18 in. well 200 ft. to 600 ft. deep (SE of "Little Valley").

USE: Same as Heretofore. POU: S $\frac{1}{4}$ SW $\frac{1}{4}$, SE $\frac{1}{4}$ Sec 25; W $\frac{1}{2}$ NE $\frac{1}{4}$, E $\frac{1}{2}$ NW $\frac{1}{4}$, SW $\frac{1}{4}$, S $\frac{1}{2}$ SE $\frac{1}{4}$, NW $\frac{1}{4}$ SE $\frac{1}{4}$ Sec 26; SE $\frac{1}{4}$ SW $\frac{1}{4}$, S $\frac{1}{2}$ SW $\frac{1}{4}$ Sec 27; E $\frac{1}{2}$, E $\frac{1}{2}$ W $\frac{1}{2}$ Sec 34l W $\frac{1}{2}$ Sec 35, T43S, R15W. (R. 110; Addendum 1).

3. Prisbrey is the owner of real property adjacent to the land owned by Leucadia where the proposed point of diversion is to take place. (R. 119).

4. If Leucadia had been listed in the change application, as opposed to Bloomington Water Company, Prisbrey would have recognized that the location of property listed in the notice could have a direct adverse impact on his water rights and would have resulted in him filing a protest to the change application in a timely fashion as Leucadia's property borders Prisbrey's. (R. 120, paragraph 6).

5. The point of the proposed diversion is actually in the Fort Pearce Basin and miles from Little Valley. (R. 120, paragraph 7).

6. On September 10, 1999, Prisbrey filed a protest to the permanent change application with the Utah State Water Board. In that protest, Prisbrey indicated that the application should have been listed in the name of Leucadia Financial, not Bloomington Water Company, as that was misleading. Prisbrey further indicated that the underground water at the proposed point of diversion was already being "mined" at the rate of 1 ½ feet per year. Prisbrey requested that the change application be denied. (Addendum 2).

7. On October 15, 1999, the State Engineer issued a Memorandum Decision denying the relief sought in Prisbrey's request. (R. 5; Addendum 3).

8. Prisbrey filed a Petition for Judicial Review of Informal Adjudicative Proceeding with the Fifth District Court on November 12, 1999, against the parties to the agency action, Bloomington Water Company and Robert L. Morgan, State Engineer. (R. 1-4).

9. As Leucadia held the water rights at issue, the parties stipulated to the filing of an amended complaint naming Leucadia as a party. An Amended Petition adding Leucadia Financial Corporation as a party was filed on April 20, 2000. (R. 56, 58-60).

10. On December 4, 2000, Respondents, Bloomington, Leucadia, and Robert L. Morgan filed a joint Motion for Summary Judgment. Respondents moved the Court for an order dismissing the lawsuit alleging that Prisbrey did not have standing to seek judicial review of the State Engineer's decision as a protest to the notice published in the Daily Spectrum was not filed within 30 days. (R. 96).

11. Prisbrey filed a Memorandum in Opposition to the Motion for Summary Judgment, arguing he had standing as the notice was inappropriate as it did not contain the information contained in the Application, specifically, it did not identify that Leucadia was the actual party in interest, that the legal descriptions in the published notice were incorrect and the notice was misleading as it indicated the diversion was to be Southeast of Little Valley, when, in actuality, the diversion was in the Fort Pearce Basin. (R. 128).

12. On April 25, 2001, the trial court issued its ruling on the Respondents' Motion for Summary Judgment dismissing Prisbrey's lawsuit. (R. 162-7; Addendum 4).

13. On May 14, 2001, the Court entered an order granting Respondents' Motion for Summary Judgment finding that Prisbrey does not have standing to object to the proceedings as he did not file protests within 30 days of the notice which was published in the Daily Spectrum. (R. 169-72; Addendum 5). It is from this order Prisbrey appeals to this Court.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Pursuant to *Longley v. Leucadia Financial Corp.*, 9 P.3d 762 (Utah 2000), Prisbrey has standing to challenge the determination of the State Engineer as the notice filed in the Daily Spectrum did not strictly comply with UTAH CODE ANN. §73-3-3 and §73-3-6. First, the notice listed Bloomington Water Company as the Applicant when Bloomington had leased all of its rights to Leucadia and Leucadia should have been the applicant listed in the published notice. Second, the “legal descriptions” contained in the published notice were invalid as they were virtually undecipherable. Third, the notice indicated that the point of diversion was Southeast of Little Valley, which was clearly misleading as the point of diversion was to be located in the Fort Pearce Basin, miles away.

ARGUMENT

The issue relative to notice regarding the changing of water rights was recently addressed by this Court in *Longley v. Leucadia Financial Corp.*, 9 P.3d 762 (Utah 2000). This Court ruled in *Longley* that there must be strict compliance with the statutory notice requirements regarding water rights. Failure to provide notice in accordance with the notice statute necessitates a finding that the notice is invalid as it abrogates one’s right to be heard regarding a change application. *See, Longley v. Leucadia Financial Corp.*, 9 P.3d 762 (Utah 2000). Here, as in *Longley*, the State Engineer failed to strictly comply with the notice statutes.

Utah Code Ann. §73-3-6(1)(a) provides, “[w]hen an application is filed in compliance with this title, the State Engineer shall publish, once a week for a period of two successive weeks, a notice of the application **informing the public of the contents of the application** and the proposed plan of development. (Emphasis added). Hence, the published notice must contain all information provided in the application.

Utah Code Ann. §73-3-3(4)(b) provides the information which must be in the application. The “application shall be made upon forms furnished by the State Engineer and shall set forth:

1. **the name of the applicant;**
2. **a description of the water right;**
3. **the quantity of water;**
4. **the stream or source;**
5. **the point on the stream or source where the water is diverted;**
6. **the point to which it is proposed to change the diversion of the water;**
7. **the place purpose and extent of the present use;**
8. **the place, purpose, and extent of the proposed use; and**
9. **any other information that the State Engineer requires.”**

Utah Code Ann. §73-3-3(4)(b). (Emphasis added).

The notice published in the Daily Spectrum was invalid for three reasons. Leucadia, which is the owner of the real property adjacent to Prisbrey’s and the lessee of the water right was never listed as the requestor of the Change Application. The metes and bounds descriptions contained in the published notice did not contain reference to the Township, Range, or Section of the areas where the water was to be diverted. One proposed well was not even on property owned by Leucadia. Further, there was a

reference to the proposed diversion being by Little Valley when the proposed point of diversion was miles from Little Valley in the Fort Pearce Basin. This was misleading to anyone who would have read the notice.

A. THE STATE ENGINEER FAILED TO LIST LEUCADIA AS A PARTY TO THE CHANGE APPLICATION TO THE DETRIMENT OF PRISBREY.

There is no question that Leucadia was the lessee of the water rights it had obtained from Bloomington. In fact, Leucadia had requested that Bloomington file the change application with the State Engineer. (R. 95).

Prisbrey, as indicated in his affidavit, was prejudiced by this fact as his parcels of property were surrounded by Leucadia, not Bloomington. The trial court ruled that Leucadia did not need to be listed as a party because “Leucadia *may* be an applicant.” (R. 166; Addendum 4). The trial court entirely misses the point. Utah Code Ann. §73-3-3(2)(a) provides that: “[a]ny person **entitled to the use of the water** may make permanent or temporary changes in the. . . (i) point of diversion;. . .” (Emphasis added). Further, UAR 655-3-2 entitled “Change Application” provides that, “any person **entitled to the use of the water** may make permanent or temporary changes in the point of diversion. . .” (Emphasis added).

The statute and rule are clear and unambiguous that “any person **entitled to the use of the water** may make permanent or temporary changes” in the point of diversion. (Emphasis added). It does not permit a party that has leased its rights to make the application. By its own admission, Bloomington, the applicant listed in the notice has no

right to the water as the water right was leased to Leucadia.

Leucadia, as the right holder, is the **only** party which is “entitled to use the water” and as such **must** be included on the change application and in the notice to be published. Bloomington does not have that right, the notice published in the Daily Spectrum was invalid.

B. THE LEGAL DESCRIPTIONS CONTAINED IN THE PUBLISHED NOTICE WERE INCORRECT AND FLAWED

In the published notice there are five wells which are to be the proposed point of diversion. The published notice indicates those points as follows:

- (1) N 250 E 300 from SW corn. Sec 24, 18 in. well 200 ft. to 600 ft. deep;
- (2) N 300 E 0, 18 in. well 200 ft. to 600 ft. deep;
- (3) N 250 E 400 from S¼ Corn, Sec 25, 18 in. well 200 ft. to 600 ft. deep;
- (4) N 625 E 200 from S¼ Cor, 18 in. well 200 ft. to 600 ft. deep; and
- (5) N 500 W 350 from SE Cor, Sec 26, T43S, R15W., 18 in. well 200 ft. to 600 ft. deep (SE of “Little Valley”).

(Addendum 1).

The well identified at paragraph 1 is incorrect. The State Engineer made the determination that, “the applicant has noted that the proposed point of diversion described as (1) one above, has been incorrectly described, is on property not belonging to the applicant, and will not be developed under this application.” (R. 5).

In a similar fashion, the legal description set forth for proposed point of diversions,

(2), (3), and (4) are fatally flawed. The point of diversion (2) gives a North and East coordinate with nothing more. There is no indication as to what Township, Range, or Section that well is proposed to be located. Additionally there are no minute or seconds or feet attached to any of the numbers given in the “legal description” leaving the reader in the dark as to whether the description is true North or magnetic North. Additionally, the reader doesn’t know if the numbers represent feet, yards, meters or some other measuring unit.

Proposed point of diversion number 3 is similarly flawed. The proposed point of diversion indicates a northerly direction and easterly direction from the Corner Section 25. However, again, there is absolutely no reference to the Township or the Range wherein the proposed point of diversion is to be, nor is there any reference to feet, minutes, or seconds.

Likewise, proposed point of diversion number 4 fails to provide a Township or Range where the proposed well is to be drilled nor does it refer to feet, minutes or seconds. That is inappropriate notice.

The trial court, while recognizing that the description was “somewhat cryptic” eventually determined that it would grant deference to the State Engineer on the manner in which to give notice. (R. 165; Addendum 4).

The trial court’s determination to grant deference to the administrative agency and how to give notice runs contrary to this court’s determination in *Longley*. This Court has required strict statutory compliance with the notice. The statute requires that there be

notice of the place, purpose and extent of the proposed use. Neither the trial court, nor this court, need to defer to a state agency to determine whether a **legal description** is valid. It is fairly apparent that the metes and bounds description set forth in the notice is deficient on its face.

C. THE NOTICE WHICH WAS PUBLISHED WAS MISLEADING

The notice which was published in *The Daily Spectrum* indicated that the proposed points of diversion were to be to the “SE of ‘Little Valley’”. In actuality, the proposed points of diversion were several miles from Little Valley. The reference to Little Valley was confusing. It would be much more appropriate for the notice to indicate the area where the wells were to be placed, in the Fort Pearce Basin. Then the landowners in the area would have recognized their water rights would be affected by the proposed diversion and could have filed a timely protest.

There is no legitimate purpose to list Little Valley as being in the area of the change application. It was miles away. The notice would have been factually correct if it would have stated that the point of diversion was Southeast of Carson City, Nevada. However, a reference to Carson City, Nevada, would lead the public to believe that the proposed change of diversion would take place in Nevada. In the same fashion, reference to Little Valley in this case led Prisbrey to believe that the proposed point of diversion was in Little Valley, not in the Fort Pearce Basin.

CONCLUSION

The actions of Leucadia in this case are deceptive.¹ Bloomington and Leucadia make the frank admission that Leucadia requested that Bloomington file the change application with the State Engineer's office. This was done even though Bloomington had already leased its entire right to Leucadia. Bloomington had no right to use the water yet the notice listed Bloomington as the applicant and the notice is invalid for that reason. The obvious purpose in having Bloomington apply for the change application was to ensure that property owners adjacent to Leucadia would not know who the real party in interest was.

Secondly, the cryptic description of the point of diversion is insufficient as a matter of law. This Court need not grant deference to the administrative agency on a legal issue.

Third, the reference to Little Valley which is miles from the point of diversion, is inappropriate and was done for the sole purpose of misleading land owners such as Prsbrey.

As a matter of public policy, a state agency should make every attempt to put land owners on notice as to whether their property rights are going to be affected by a change of diversion. Especially in a state such as Utah where adjacent land owners are not given

¹ The information contained in the Notice was received from the Application supplied by Bloomington Water Company and Leucadia. It was Leucadia's intent to be deceptive in providing this information. One would assume that the State Engineer's office was not aware of the deceptive conduct of Leucadia. However, it is unfortunate that the State Engineer, now that it is aware of Leucadia's deception, apparently condones it.

actual written notice of the proposed diversion. That was not done here.

WHEREFORE, Prisbrey respectfully requests this Court remand this case back to the district court for further proceedings to determine whether the approval of the change application by the State Engineer was improper.