2001

Ladell C. Prisbrey v. Bloomington Water, ROBERT  
L. MORGAN, STATE ENGINEER, and  
LEUCADIA FINANCIAL CORPORATION, a  
Utah corporation, : Brief of Appellee

Utah Supreme Court

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

Utah Code Ann. § 73-3-6(1)(a) (Supp. 2001) (emphasis added).<sup>3</sup> The published notice stated (in its entirety):

81-441 (a23227): Bloomington Water Company Incorporated propose(s) to change the POD [point of diversion] & POU [place of use] of water as evidenced by Application A32568, as amended by a7973, Certificate 9629.

HERETOFORE: QUANTITY: 2.33 cfs.  
SOURCE: 14 in. well 67 ft. deep. POD: (1) N 2942 W

---

<sup>2</sup> The notice provision at issue in the *Longley* decision involved a similar, albeit distinct, statutory notice provision regarding extension requests. The present matter involves a completely different statutory notice provision. For example, compare Section 73-3-6(1)(a) (notice of applications) with Section 73-3-12(2)(f)(ii) of the Utah Code (notice of extension requests).

<sup>3</sup> By way of comparison, the statutory notice provision at issue in *Longley* required that the published notice of an extension request inform the public regarding the diligence claimed and the reason for the extension request.

1951 from SE Cor, Sec 6, T43S, R15W. USE: Irrigation: total acreage 615.0000 acs, sole supply 138.6300 acs. POU: SW1/4NW1/4 Sec 7; S1/2NE1/4, SE1/4NW1/4, N1/2SE1/4 Sec 8, T43S, R15W; S1/2NE1/4, SE1/4 Sec 11; S1/2, S1/2NE1/4 Sec 12; NE1/4, E1/2NW1/4, NE1/4SW1/4, NW1/4SE1/4 Sec 13; N1/2NE1/4, NE1/4NW1/4 Sec 14, T43S, R16W.

HEREAFTER: QUANTITY: 2.33 cfs. SOURCE: Underground Water Wells (5). POD: (1) N 250 E 300 from SW Cor, Sec 24, 18 in. well 200 ft. to 600 ft. deep (2) N 300 E 0, 18 in. well 200 ft. to 600 ft. deep (3) N 250 E 400 from S1/4 Cor, Sec 25, 18 in. well 200 ft. to 600 ft. deep (4) N 625 E 200 from S1/4 Cor, 18 in. well 200 ft. to 600 ft. deep (5) N 500 W 350 from SE Co, Sec 26, T43S, R15W., 18 in. well 200 ft. to 600 ft. deep. (SE of "Little Valley") USE: Same as Heretofore. POU: S1/2SW1/4, SE1/4 Sec 25; W1/2NE1/4, E1/2NW1/4, SW1/4, S1/2SE1/4, NW1/4SE1/4 Sec 26; SE1/4SW1/4, S1/2SE1/4 Sec 27; E1/2, E1/2W1/2 Sec 34; W1/2 Sec 35, T43S, R15W.<sup>4</sup>

This was meaningful notice in the sense that it provided the information needed by an interested party to determine whether or not the party should protest the Change Application. The notice provided the name of the applicant; a description of the water right involved; the quantity of water involved; the source of the water right; the point at which the water is diverted; the points at which the applicant proposes to change the point of diversion; the place, purpose, and extent of the present use of the water; the place, purpose, and extent of the proposed use; and other information required by the State Engineer (*e.g.*, the diameter and depth of the proposed wells).

---

<sup>4</sup> For a copy of the actual notice, see Addendum at A-13. The above-quoted notice is an accurate statement of the published notice. The published notice as quoted in Statement of Fact No. 2 in the Brief of Appellant contains numerous punctuation errors.

All of the listed items are required by statute to be included in a change application. Utah Code Ann. § 73-3-3(4)(b) (Supp. 2001) Thus, the published notice contained a description of all of the statutorily required information for the Change Application, including the proposed plan of development, which is contained in the “Hereafter” section of the published notice. Because the notice contained information that described the contents of the Change Application, thus informing the public of the contents of the application, including the proposed plan of development, it follows that it strictly complied with the statutory scheme.

The published notice satisfied Prisbrey’s right to meaningful notice of the Change Application and protected his right to protest the Change Application, and therefore, fulfilled the purpose of the statutory scheme. *Longley*, 2000 UT 69 at ¶¶ 22, 26, 29, 9 P.3d 762.

## **II. THE NOTICE CORRECTLY LOCATED EACH POINT OF DIVERSION.**

Prisbrey argues that the legal descriptions of the points of diversion in the Change Application were invalid because they were virtually undecipherable. (Brief of Appellant at 7.) Prisbrey also argues that the legal descriptions of the proposed points of diversion were flawed because the descriptions do not reference the “Township, Range, or Section of the areas where the water was to be diverted.” (*Id.* at 8.) Prisbrey’s arguments are without merit. The legal descriptions are readily decipherable using ordinary rules of grammar, punctuation, and a ruler and USGS topographic map. By using such rules and tools, it can be shown that each new point

of diversion was referenced to a corner, section number, township, and range, as required by statute.

Under Section 73-3-2(2)(d)(i) of the Utah Code, which governs applications to appropriate water, points of diversion must be designated with reference to United States land survey corners.<sup>5</sup> The published notice complies with this statutory mandate—all of the points of diversion were referenced to survey corners following a convention commonly used by the State Engineer to provide accurate but non-repetitive information in public notices.

The published notice accurately described the locations of the proposed points of diversion as follows:

POD: (1) N 250 E 300 from SW Cor, Sec 24, 18 in. well 200 ft. to 600 ft. deep (2) N 300 E 0, 18 in. well 200 ft. to 600 ft. deep (3) N 250 E 400 from S1/4 Cor, Sec 25, 18 in. well 200 ft. to 600 ft. deep (4) N 625 E 200 from S1/4 Cor, 18 in. well 200 ft. to 600 ft. deep (5) N 500 W 350 from SE Cor, Sec 26, T43S, R15W., 18 in. well 200 ft. to 600 ft. deep. (SE of “Little Valley”)<sup>6</sup>

The well locations were published in the form of a long run-on “sentence,” which used commas for several important and sometimes multiple purposes. This form of published legal descriptions is commonly used by the State Engineer. Commas were

---

<sup>5</sup>The same requirement applies to change applications. Utah Code Ann. § 73-3-3(5)(a) requires that the State Engineer follow, with respect to change applications, the same procedures governing applications to appropriate water. *See East Jordan Irr. Co. v. Morgan*, 860 P.2d 310, 313 (Utah 1993).

<sup>6</sup> Following the publication of the notice, the parties realized that the description for the point of diversion for well number (1) was erroneous, and therefore, that point of diversion was not approved by the State Engineer. The erroneous description for well (1) has no effect on the legal descriptions of the remaining points of diversion.

used to separate the course and distance for the individual wells (indicated by serial numbers enclosed within parentheses) from the diameter and proposed depth of the wells.<sup>7</sup> Commas also were used to indicate the omission of repetitive words understood by the form of the “sentence.” Additionally, commas were used to separate elements of the “sentence” that belonged to two or more wells, but that were expressed only after the last well associated with such element. An example of this type of usage is the sentence: “We approve of, and are willing to participate in, the 4-day work week.” The element “the 4-day work week” belongs to both of the preceding phrases. *New York Public Library Writer’s Guide to Style and Usage* 255 (1994). These are all accepted usages of commas. *See e.g., id.; The Chicago Manual of Style* 173 (14th ed. 1993); *The Gregg Reference Manual* ¶ 172(a) (9th ed. 2001).

Moreover, such uses of commas is not unusual. Commas frequently are used deliberately in the publication of legal matters. *See e.g., State of Utah v. Tooele County*, 2002 UT 8, ¶ 13, 439 Utah Adv. Rep. 10 (applying elementary rules of punctuation and grammar to the interpretation of a statute—presence of a comma before last clause suggests limiting clause applies to entire series); *see also Elliot Coal Mining Co. v. Dir., Office of Worker’s Comp. Programs*, 17 F.3d 616, 630 (3d Cir. 1994) (also interpreting statute) (“This use of a comma to set off a modifying phrase from other clauses indicates that the qualifying language is to be applied to all of the previous phrases and not merely the immediate preceding phrase”).

---

<sup>7</sup> The diameter and depths were given in English system measurements, *e.g.*, inches and feet, respectively. Obviously, all units of measurement in the notice were given in the English system.

Thus, the comma following the course and distance for well (2) replaces for that well the phrase “from S1/4 Cor, Sec 25” following the course and distance for well (3). Also, the comma following the indicated corner in the description for well (4) replaces “Sec 26,” which follows the corner indicator for well (5). Finally, the commas after the section number for each well also replace the township and range for each point of diversion, which follow at the end of the “sentence,” after the course and distance for well (5), and therefore, apply to each of the preceding section number(s). *See e.g., Tooele County*, 2002 UT 8 at ¶ 13, 439 Utah Adv. Rep. 10.

The legal descriptions of the proposed points of diversion, when read as a sentence consistent with the form in which they were published, were properly and accurately published, used conventional usage styles, and properly attributed each course and distance for the individual proposed wells to a land survey corner, section, township, and range. The legal descriptions in the notice were far from “undecipherable” and informed the public regarding the contents of the Change Application with respect to each proposed point of diversion. In fact, the only difference between the legal descriptions in the published notice and Change Application involves the removal of redundant information from the published notice.

The form of the legal description was left to the State Engineer’s discretion so long as it informed the public of the contents of the application and the proposed plan of development. *See e.g., Longley*, 2000 UT 69 ¶15, 9 P.3d 762 (the State Engineer has broad discretion to accomplish the legislative mandate to equitably apportion and distribute water according to the respective rights of appropriators). Certainly it was

not an abuse of that discretion to omit redundant information from the legal descriptions for the proposed points of diversion.

As a holder of a water right, Prisbrey must be knowledgeable regarding how points of diversion are described in water right applications. *See* Utah Code Ann. §§ 73-3-2(1)(b) (Supp. 2001) (applications to appropriate to be on forms furnished by the State Engineer); -2(2)(d)(i) (points of diversion must be referenced to land survey corners); -3(5)(a) (State Engineer is to follow the same procedures with change applications as for applications to appropriate water). As required by statute, points of diversion must be referenced to a land survey corner. Utah Code Ann.

§ 73-3-2(2)(d)(i) (Supp. 2001). Accordingly, Prisbrey is deemed to know that a point of diversion in a published notice of a change application will be referenced to a survey corner, particularly if other points of diversion in the same notice are referenced to survey corners. The district court properly observed that Prisbrey, as a member of the “water-right holding community,” understood, or should have understood, the locations of the points of diversion as listed in the published notice. Rather than assume that the omission of a corner reference following a well was an error, Prisbrey should have presumed the notice was correct and analyzed the notice further. If a point of diversion in a published notice is not immediately followed by a reference to a land survey corner, the presumption is that the omission was deliberate. *See Leonard v. Board of Dir., Prowers County Hosp. Dist.*, 673 P.2d 1019, 1022 (Colo. Ct. App. 1983) (strong presumption of regularity of administrative procedures).

Finally, the reference in the published notice to “SE of ‘Little Valley’” was not an error, nor was it misleading as contended by Prisbrey. (Brief of Appellant at 7, 9, 12.) The phrase “SE of ‘Little Valley’” was not meant to be a specific description of a well location—those were already described in the published notice in substantial detail. It is simply a common description of a general area such as the other common descriptions contained in the other notices of water applications published along with the notice for the Change Application—for example, “North of Irontown” or “Mountain Meadows Area” or “Pine Valley.” (See Addendum at A-13.) The labels “Little Valley” or “Little Valley Ditch” are commonly used on widely distributed government maps to describe topographic features in the relevant portion of southern Washington County. “Southeast of Little Valley” was a general reference to a general area—it provided a reference to a general area to allow interested readers to “screen” which notices they needed to focus on.

The phrase “SE of ‘Little Valley’” accurately describes the general area of the Change Application because the affected lands and proposed new points of diversion are, in fact, located southeast of Little Valley.<sup>8</sup> Moreover, Prisbrey’s claim to have been misled by the notice completely ignores that the legal description in the notice for the last point of diversion, well (5), reads as follows: “N 500 W 350 from SE Cor, Sec 26, T43S, R15W., 18 in. well 200 ft. to 600 ft. deep. (SE of ‘Little Valley’).”

This description accurately locates the well in Section 26, Township 43 South, Range

---

<sup>8</sup> Prisbrey could not have reasonably believed that the points of diversion were to be located in Little Valley because the published notice stated that the points of diversion were southeast of Little Valley. (See Brief of Appellant at 12.) The difference in prepositions is significant.

15 West, in close proximity to Prisbrey's property. Prisbrey was provided clear notice that the well was located near to his lands. His claim that the reference to "SE of 'Little Valley'" was misleading is disingenuous at best. *See McGarry v. Thompson*, 201 P.2d 288, 293 (Utah 1948) ("When a person has sufficient information to lead him to a fact, he shall be deemed to be conversant of it.")

### **III. BLOOMINGTON WAS THE PROPER APPLICANT FOR THE CHANGE APPLICATION AND THE STATE ENGINEER DID NOT ERR BY NOT LISTING LEUCADIA IN THE NOTICE.**

In his Brief of Appellant, Prisbrey argues that Leucadia, as Bloomington's lessee, was the only party entitled to the use of the subject water, and therefore, Leucadia should have been included in the published notice of the Change Application. (Brief of Appellant at 7-9.) Not only is Prisbrey's argument without merit, he also raises this particular argument for the first time on appeal.

Before the district court Prisbrey argued that he was prejudiced because the State Engineer failed to list Leucadia in the notice as a real party in interest, and therefore, Prisbrey failed to realize that the Change Application involved lands in close proximity to his lands. (Memorandum in Opposition to Respondents' Motion for Summary Judgment at 5 (R. 129.) Below, Prisbrey only challenged the published notice of the Change Application. Now, on appeal, Prisbrey is arguing, in essence, that Leucadia, not Bloomington, was the only party that had standing before the State Engineer to file the Change Application, an entirely separate issue.

In response to Prisbrey's argument below, the district court held that "[t]here is no statute or rule that required Leucadia to be listed as an "applicant" under

Bloomington's Change Application." (District Court's Order at 4-5 (R. 165-66.)

Prisbrey could not have been prejudiced unless an error in the notice adversely affected his right to protest. The district court correctly held Prisbrey's rights were not adversely affected because the State Engineer did not err by not listing Leucadia in the published notice.

There is no statutory requirement that the published notice identify a party as an applicant or "requestor" other than as identified in the application. Further, there is no rule that the notice is deficient if it does not list a party in interest to a water right where that interest arises only under a contractual arrangement between the record owner of the water right and a third party and not by deed or assignment. Additionally, there is no requirement under either the Notice Provision or the change application statute that the name of the property owner of the land upon which the points of diversion are to be located be identified for purposes of notice of the Change Application.

The weakness of Prisbrey's argument that he was prejudiced by the published notice because it did not identify Leucadia as the applicant is demonstrated by the fact that the published notice advertised the exact locations of the proposed points of diversion, which are located on the property in close proximity to his. Prisbrey cannot complain that he was not apprised of the locations of the proposed points of diversion because Leucadia was not identified as the applicant in the published notice where, as here, the published notice specifically described the locations of the proposed points of diversion.

Prisbrey failed to raise the issue before the district court whether Bloomington did not have the right to seek the Change Application. The district court, however, raised a similar issue in response to Respondents' argument: Whether Leucadia was "a person entitled to the use of water" under the change application statute? (Ruling on Motion for Summary Judgment at 5 (R. 166.)) The issue whether Bloomington was not a person entitled to the use of water under Section 73-3-(2)(a) was never raised before nor addressed by the district court. Because Prisbrey failed to present the issue and his argument to the district court, he may not raise the issue on appeal. *See Mule-Hide Products Co. v. White*, 2002 UT App 1, n.5, 438 Utah Adv. Rpt. 5 ("Under ordinary circumstances, appellate courts will not consider an issue . . . raised for the first time on appeal unless the trial court committed plain error.") (quoting *State v. Helmick*, 2000 UT 70, ¶ 8, 9 P.3d 164).

If the Court determines that the issue was raised below by virtue of the district court's ruling that Leucadia "may" be an applicant under the change application statute, Appellees offer the following argument.

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